IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



SUPREME COURT NO. 90759-5

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 71430-9-I (Previously 44568-9-II)

JEROME C. HURLEY and BESSIE M. HURLEY; WESLEY A. STANCIL and ZELLA E. MORAN; FRANK J. METTLER and LINDA E. METTLER; SHAWN HAMPTON and CHARITY HAMPTON; ANTON K. SWAFFORD and DOROTHY E. SWAFFORD; MARK DANTINNE; JON and DAGNE NORD; DEANNA LESTER; DE LILA E. WALKER; JAMES K. REDMON and BETTY REDMON; ALICE REDMON; MICHAEL WOOD and KIMBERLY WOOD; EDWARD THOMAS and MARTHA THOMAS; MARTIN E. SPRINKLE; LINDA SPRINKLE; MARTIN L.J. SPRINKLE; AARON SPRINKLE; and STEPHEN P. REA,

Petitioners,

v.

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

The petitioners are fourteen families whose properties were heavily damaged when a series of landslides thundered through the small community of Glenoma, Washington, in eastern Lewis County.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals for Division I in *Hurley, et al. v. Port Blakely Tree Farms L.P., et al.* (June 30, 2014) (2014 WL 3953473) (App. A hereto). On August 7, 2014, the Court of Appeals granted motions to publish the opinion filed by respondent Menasha Forest Products Corporation and the Washington Forest Protection Association, a nonparty (App. B hereto).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under Section 520 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, an activity is subject to strict liability when it presents an ineliminably high risk of serious injury to the person or property of others. Should respondents be held to a strict liability standard when they clearcut the steep hillsides above Glenoma, which necessarily resulted in a high risk of devastating landslides? Conversely, should petitioners be denied recovery simply because they live in a "rural" area, as the Court of Appeals held?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Landslides

Starting shortly after dawn and continuing for much of the day on January 7, 2009, the small community of Glenoma was rocked by a series of landslides. The slides began on the steep hills above the community, in in or adjacent to areas that had been clear-cut and stripped of their trees. CP 117. Some of the initial landslides dammed the small streams leading to the community. CP 108. When the dams broke, even more torrents of mud, rain, trees, rocks, and other debris were unleashed on the homes below. CP 109. A 30- to 40-foot wall of debris scoured the hillside and buried several residential properties in a thick layer of mud. *Id*. ¹

The physical destruction was immense. As shown in a photograph taken of petitioners Jerome and Bessie Hurley's home shortly after January 7, 2009, the landslides gauged and pitted the small stream flowing through the community.² They deposited a thick layer of mud everywhere, together with fallen trees, logs, boulders, and other debris. They caved in buildings and eroded foundations. The landslides left residents of modest

¹ A Department of Natural Resources aerial photograph, reproduced at Appendix C, depicts the aftermath (the photograph may also be found at CP 288). The Martin Road landslide may be seen coursing through Glenoma in the middle of the picture. Some of the precipitating landslides can be seen in the clearcut area above the runout.

² The photograph of the Hurley's residence is attached at Appendix C, and may be found at CP 109. Despite the inaccurate time-stamp, the photograph was taken shortly after January 7, 2009, when the landslides occurred. *See* CP 109.

means with the impossible task of restoring their properties to any semblance of what they once were.

Later, it was determined that the Martin Road slides were "debris flows," a term denoting the large, rain-saturated mass of dirt and debris that roared through the community. CP 29. These are "the most destructive type of landslide [and have] caused the most deaths worldwide." CP 186 (citations omitted). Debris flows "bulk up" as they move downhill, enabling them to travel "long distances from the point of initiation." *Id.* "Their volumes increase by thousands of percent, resulting in escalating downstream destructiveness." *Id.*

So it was in Glenoma. The landslides did not stop at the base of the mountain. They gathered momentum and left a swath of destruction in their wake. One eye witness described the landslides as the loudest thing he had ever heard — louder than a freight train or a jet plane. CP 109.

B. The Science Behind the Landslides

The landslides came as a dreadful shock to the individuals who lived through them. But they likely would not have surprised anyone versed in the underlying science of landslides. Nor should they have come as a surprise to the companies that clearcut the hills several years earlier and set the stage for the resulting catastrophe.

It is well recognized in the scientific community that clearcutting has an unavoidable and de-stabilizing effect on steep slopes. As one scientist explained, "Trees cannot be logged without killing their roots. No amount of due care can avoid that biological consequence . . . As their roots die, their binding effect dies with them increasing landslide risk." CP 87. The roots die slowly over many years, so the loss of root strength increases in the years following the clearcut. Over time, this destabilizing effect is offset by the growth of new trees. But it can take 20 years for the slope to regain its stability. CP 112. Until then, the slope is highly vulnerable to sliding if hit by heavy winter rains. CP 1170–71.

Clearcutting also significantly increases the amount of water entering the ground, which also increases the probability of slope failure. CP 111–12. As explained in Washington's Forest Practices Watershed Manual, "A rain-on-snow event on slopes with immature forests will produce significantly greater volumes of runoff than an event on slopes with mature forests." CP 111. Studies have shown that clearcutting increases runoff from melting snow packs by 50 to 400 percent. *Id.* "The increase is due both to greater snow accumulation on logged slopes than heavily forested slopes and by a more rapid melting of snow on logged slopes than forested slopes." *Id.*

The risks associated with clearcutting steep slopes cannot be eliminated with due care. The destabilizing effects of root death and altered hydrology are natural consequences of clearcutting — they cannot be avoided. CP 87. In addition, there is an inherent inability to identify and avoid the riskiest areas for logging on a steep hillside. Landslide "initiation zones" are not spread uniformly across the landscape. And they "are difficult for those even with specialized slope stability expertise to field identify from surficial characteristics. This is because [they] may not have surface expression." CP 88. The attributes that make clearcutting steep, unstable slopes so dangerous are often hidden below the surface.

In short, landslide risk necessarily increases when slopes are clearcut. Depending on the study, the risk may increase by as much as 200 to 3,300 percent. CP 111. Logging companies may attempt to avoid the riskiest sites. But when slopes are clearcut, there is always is at least a doubling of risk that a devastating landslide will ensue. In more concrete terms, logging steep slopes increases the risk of debris flows from a natural event occurring once every several centuries to a man-made event occurring once every decade or two. CP 86.³

³ The Court of Appeals confused the natural incidence of landslides which occur at a given site once every several **centuries** to landslides caused by logging which may occur every few decades. *Compare* App. A at 7-8. The court failed to comprehend the

The risks associated with clearcutting steep slopes are not borne primarily by the companies benefitting from the logging. The harms are externalized – imposed primarily on those unfortunate third parties living downhill of a clearcut.

The destabilizing effects of clearcutting steep slopes was drawn into sharp relief on January 7, 2009, when a "pineapple express" brought warm rains to the snow-covered hills of Glenoma. The storm caused numerous landslides, "the vast number [of which] originated in recently logged areas, at [logging] roads, or in second growth areas below recently logged areas." CP 111–12. As discussed above, some of the landslides roared through Glenoma. The others bear testament to the risk of clearcutting steep, unstable slopes at an elevation were "rain-on-snow" storms are common.⁴ During a similar storm in 1996, sixty-four landslides were identified in the area. All but five were linked to clearcutting and logging roads. CP 1196–97.

distinction between natural landslide frequency "endemic" in "geological time" with unnatural (logging-induced) landslide frequency measured in decades. There were no disputed facts — just incredibly different time scales depending on whether slopes are clearcut or left alone.

⁴ See CP 110, 113 (explaining that the Department of Natural Resources has classified the hills above Glenoma as highly unstable and erodible slopes in the "rain-on-snow zone," a term denoting an elevated risk of landslides).

Virtually all of the harm was suffered by strangers to the logging operations. The companies that profited from the clearcuts suffered little harm — but it was their mud that covered the private properties below.

C. Proceedings Below

On November 4, 2010, fourteen families filed suit against the logging companies that clearcut the areas where the landslides began. *See* CP 1. Three of those companies are the respondents here: the Campbell and Menasha forestry companies (responsible for clearcutting the area where the Martin Road landslide originated); and Don Zepp Logging (responsible for logging the area where the Lunch Creek landslide began).

In their first cause of action, the families alleged that by clear-cutting the steep hills above Glenoma, the defendants engaged in an "abnormally dangerous activity" within the meaning of Section 520 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. CP 10. The families moved for summary judgment on the issue of strict liability, citing the many reasons why logging steep hills is so dangerous. CP 285–387. Respondents opposed, but failed to dispute the inherent riskiness of their actions. Their own expert agreed that clearcutting invariably results in decreased slope stability, and that it increases the risk of landslides by 200 to 3,300 percent. See CP 1185–95.

Nevertheless, the superior court denied the motion for summary judgment, and granted the defendants' cross motions. CP 1236. (Later, the ruling proved fatal. After a six-week jury trial, the families were denied recovery under their secondary negligence claim.) The Court of Appeals subsequently upheld the superior court's ruling, finding four of the six Restatement factors were not satisfied. *See* App. A at 5–13. ⁵

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court has adopted Section 520 as a guide for deciding what activities should be held to a standard of strict liability when they cause harm to others. *See, e.g., Pac. Nw. Bell Tel. Co. v. Port of Seattle*, 80 Wn.2d 59, 64, 491 P. 2d1037 (1971).

Section 520 lists six factors that a court must consider in determining whether to impose strict liability. Among them, courts must determine whether there is a "high degree of risk of harm to the person, land or chattels of others"; whether "the harm that results [from the challenged activity] will be great"; and whether there is an "inability to eliminate the risk by the exercise of reasonable care." *See* Restatement

⁵ The Court of Appeals did, however, find that two factors weigh in favor of strict liability. First, it held that the risk of harm caused by Menasha and Zepp outweighs any benefit of their actions to the community. App. A at 12. Second, logging steep slopes is not a matter of "common usage," thus any harm caused by the practice is abnormal. *Id.* at 10–11. *See also* Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 520 (factors d and f). We do not challenge these findings on here. The value to the community of logging steep, unstable slopes is far outweighed by the risk to life and home posed by devastating landslides.

(Second) of Torts, § 520 (factors a, b, and c). In essence, when an activity "presents an ineliminably high risk of serious bodily injury or property damage," those engaging in the activity should be held to a standard of strict liability. *Klein v. Pyrodyne Corp.*, 117 Wn.2d 1, 11, 810 P.2d 917 (1991). In that case, injured parties need not prove negligence — the risk cannot be eliminated even with utmost care. *Fabrique v. Choice Hotels Int'l, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 675, 682, 183 P.3d 1118 (2008).

Section 520 of the Restatement reflects the truism that those who engage in inherently risky behavior — like Menasha and Zepp — ought to bear the costs of their actions. Clearcutting steep slopes greatly increases the risk of landslides. No amount of care can eliminate the risk. Thus, logging companies must take a calculated risk when they log steep slopes that new forests will regenerate before a large storm hits a vulnerable hillside. Many times the companies win that bet. But when they do not, "there could be an equitable balancing of social interests' only if [the defendants] are made to pay for the consequences of their acts." *Langan* v. *Valicopters, Inc.*, 88 Wn.2d 855, 865, 567 P.2d 218 (1977).

⁶ Strict liability does not, however, imply that an activity is "bad" or undesirable from a social perspective. *See* Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 520, cmt. b (explaining that activities subject to strict liability may have a great deal of social utility and value, just not enough to justify subjecting others to uncompensated injury). Rather, the purpose of strict liability is to ensure that between two innocent parties, the party responsible for

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this well-established precedent. At its core, the court held that logging steep, unstable slopes is immune to strict liability because clearcutting steep slopes poses less risk in "rural" areas than it would in "thickly-settled" areas. App. A. at 8, n. 8. In essence, the court would deny every resident of rural Washington the right to invoke strict liability in defense of life and home. But every activity — no matter how dangerous — poses more of a risk in the midst of a city than in a more "rural" area.

This Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it involves an issue of substantial public interest or if the decision conflicts with other decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). The opinion below conflicts with this Court's decisions finding strict liability in "rural" settings. The Court of Appeals' decision also raises an issue of substantial public importance in that it would deny every citizen of rural Washington from invoking the theory, regardless of the

the loss bears it. Siegler v. Kuhlman, 81 Wn.2d 448, 455, 502 P.2d 1181 (1972). This reflects equitable considerations, and also considerations of proof. Often, "the disasters caused by those who engage in abnormally dangerous or extra-hazardous activities . . . destroy all evidence of what, in fact, occurred, other than that the activity was being

dangerousness of the challenged activity. This Court should accept review and correct the Court of Appeals' erroneous application of the law.⁷

Review is also warranted under the public import test in light of the paucity of case law on strict liability in the forestry context. The decision below is only the second appellate decision in the United States to address the issue (the other is from a coal-mining state and concerned logging attendant to coal mining). See App. A at 6, citing In re Flood Litigation, 216 W.Va. 534, 607 S.E.2d 863 (2004). As Menasha accurately observed in its motion to publish, "in an era where climate change may result in even more dramatic shifts in our natural landscape . . . [t]his case is not, and will not be, the only claim addressing what liability standards will be imposed on those engaged in or regulating logging on steep slopes in rural areas." This Court should make clear that companies engaged in ultrahazardous activities are strictly liable for the damage they cause others, regardless of whether the victims live in an urban or rural area.

⁷ While we request review of the Court of Appeals' decision, this Court's review likely will not resolve the issue of Menasha or Zepp's actual liability. Instead, if this Court grants review, and determines that Menasha and Zepp are subject to strict liability, this Court would remand the issue of causation to the superior court for further fact-finding. See App. A at 13 n. 11 (observing that appellants raised an issue of material fact regarding causation). At that time, we also expect that Menasha and Zepp may present their defense of comparative fault. See Response Brief of Campbell Menasha, LLC at 33 (June 19, 2013) (arguing that families were partially to blame because they "chose" to reside on an "alluvial fan"). Those issues, however, are not before this Court.

^{• 8} See Campbell Menasha, LLC's Motion to Publish at 3 (July 17, 2014).

A. The Court of Appeals Erred in Deciding that Activities in "Rural" Areas are Immune to Strict Liability. Its Decision Conflicts with the Law of This Court and Rests on an Unworkable Standard.

The first Restatement factor is whether there is a "high degree of risk of harm to the person, land or chattels of others." Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 520 (factor a). The second is whether "the harm that results from [the activity] will be great." *Id.* (factor b). Both factors were clearly present. But both were misconstrued when the Court of Appeals held that "rural" activities are immune to strict liability.

When Menasha and Zepp clearcut the steep, unstable hills above Glenoma, they increased the risk of a devastating landslide by some 200 to 3,300 percent. *See* Section IV.B, *supra*. They killed the roots that held the hill together. *Id*. And they necessarily altered the hydrology in a way that increased the landslide risk dramatically. *Id*. The companies were betting that a new forest would adequately re-establish itself in the next decade or two, before the next big storm would bring down the hillside on the residents below. Because the landslide risk was high (due, in part, to the unpredictability of the ensuing weather and unknowns about the underlying geology), the "degree of risk" factor was clearly present. *See*, *e.g.*, *Langan*, 88 at 863–65, 567 P.2d 218 (1977) (holding that crop

dusting is subject to strict liability due to the inevitability and uncontrollability of pesticide drift).

In turn, it is beyond dispute that the magnitude of the threatened harm was great. Fourteen properties at the base of the hill were buried to varying degrees by the landslides' wide swath of destruction.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged these risks. See App. A at 10 ("[e]ven when following regulations and exercising due care, it is not possible to eliminate the risk of harm caused by logging."). Nor did the court question the severity of harm befalling Glenoma. Nevertheless, the court held that even if Menasha's and Zepp's actions dramatically increased the risk of a devastating landslide, strict liability would not attach because Glenoma is a "rural" area. In the court's words, "to the extent logging increases the risk of landslides, the risk of harm from those landslides is lower when the activity is conducted in a rural area as compared to a densely populated area." App. A. at 8. For this reason, the court also dismissed the severity of harm as irrelevant. See id. at 9 (concluding that "when logging occurs in rural, less populated areas, to the extent landslides result, there is less potential for great harm to occur"). In essence, the court ignored the grave risk to life and property simply

because logging the steep hills above Glenoma put fewer lives at risk than if Menasha and Zepp clearcut a hill in a dense city. ⁹

The court's reasoning conflicts with the principles in the Restatement and this Court's decisions. First, we are aware of no other cases (in Washington or elsewhere) that have disregarded a clear risk of harm to the life or property of others simply because the challenged activity occurred in a rural area. Instead, strict liability has clearly been applied to rural activities.

For example, in *Langan* this Court held that crop dusting in the Yakima Valley was subject to strict liability when it resulted in harm to an organic farm. *See Langan*, 88 Wn.2d at 865. In *Siegler*, this Court held that the hauling of gasoline by truck is subject to strict liability regardless of whether it occurs on city streets or "on secondary roads in rural areas." *Siegler*, 81 Wn.2d at 445. ¹⁰ Indeed, the very case credited for creating the

⁹ The court also reasoned that the magnitude of the increased risk from logging was "fairly debatable." App. A 1t 8. But the only "debate" was whether the increase in landslide risk was two-fold or something greater still (as high as 33 times). The defendants' expert did not deny these numbers. See CP 1185, 1195. Even the lowest calculation of increased risk — a doubling — is profound. Likewise, there is no support in the record for the Court of Appeals' statement that on January 7, 2009, there were hundreds of landslides throughout Western Washington "apparently unrelated to logging." App. A at 8. Yes, there were hundreds of slides that day (and during the similar storm in 1996), but the vast majority of the slides were related to logging activity. CP 111-12 (¶ 13); CP 1196-97.

¹⁰ See also Foster v. Preston Mills Co., 44 Wn.2d 440, 268 P.2d 645 (1954) (recognizing theory of strict liability as applied to blasting operations in a "rural area one and one-half miles east of North Bend," but denying recovery because plaintiff's injuries

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