RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 09, 2014, 8:26 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT NO. 90759-5

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 7143-9-I

JEROME C. HURLEY and BESSIE M. HURLEY, et al.,

Petitioners

VS.

CAMPBELL MENASHA, LLC, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

R. Scott Fallon, WSBA #2574 Kimberly Reppart, WSBA #30643 Attorneys for Respondent Campbell Menahsa, LLC

FALLON & McKINLEY, PLLC 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2400 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 682-7580

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners submit their petition under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4), which provide for review only if a decision of the Court of Appeals "is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court," or if the "petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." In this case, the Court of Appeals correctly applied established Supreme Court precedent to circumstances that are commonplace. Logging on hillsides in rural areas occurs in Washington, and that logging is heavily regulated. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that logging on hillsides, even on "steep hills" in "rural areas," does not constitute an "abnormally dangerous" activity justifying the

imposition of liability without a showing of negligence.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

1. <u>Petitioners cannot narrowly define an activity as</u> "abnormally dangerous."

Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint asserts that:

Defendants are strictly liable to plaintiffs for damages resulting from their activities which obstructed creeks. Those obstructions then gave way, flooding downstream property.

CP 765. Relying on this, Petitioners' argue that clearcut logging on "steep, unstable slopes," is an "abnormally dangerous" or an "ultra-hazardous" activity imposing strict liability standards on logging companies. As Petitioners recognize, there is no authority for this unprecedented claim in Washington or any other state.

Washington has long since recognized the doctrine of "strict liability" as established in the Restatement 2nd of Torts § 519 and § 520. *Klein v. Pyrodyne Corp.*, 117 Wn.2d 1, 6, 810 P.2d 917, *amended*, 117 Wn.2d 1, 817 P.2d 1359 (1991). Under § 519:

- (1) One who carries on an abnormally dangerous activity is subject to liability for harm to the person, land, or chattels of another resulting from the activity, although he has exercised the utmost care to prevent such harm.
- (2) Such strict liability is limited to the kind of harm, the risk of which makes the activity abnormally dangerous.

Restatement 2nd of Torts § 519 (1977).⁹

The Restatement 2nd of Torts § 520 lists six factors for the Court to consider in determining whether an activity is "abnormally dangerous:"

- (a) existence of a high degree of risk of some harm to the person, land or chattels of others;
- (b) likelihood that the harm that results from it will be great;
- (c) inability to eliminate the risk by the exercise of reasonable care;
- (d) extent to which the activity is not a matter of common usage;
- (e) inappropriateness of the activity to the place where it is carried on; and
- (f) extent to which its value to the community is outweighed by its dangerous attributes.

Restatement 2nd of Torts § 520 (1977). "[A]ny one of them is not necessarily sufficient of itself in a particular case, and ordinarily several of them will be required for strict liability." *Klein*, 117 Wn.2d at 7, quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 520, comment f (1977).

The essential question is whether the risk created is so unusual, either because of its magnitude or because of the circumstances surrounding it, as to justify the imposition of strict liability for the harm that results from it, even though it is carried on with all reasonable care.

Id. 10

⁹ Determination of whether an activity is an "abnormally dangerous activity" is a question of law. *New Meadows Holding Co. v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 495, 500, 687 P.2d 212 (1984); *Langan v. Valicopters, Inc.*, 88 Wn.2d 855, 567 P.2d 218 (1977).

2. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that logging is not an "abnormally dangerous" activity under the six-part test in the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 520.

Petitioners argue the Court of Appeals erred in deciding that "activities in 'rural' areas are immune to strict liability," but that is a mischaracterization of the Court of Appeals' decision. *Petitioners' Brief at p. 12.* The court wasn't considering "activities in rural areas," it was considering *logging.* In recognition of the Reporter's Notes from Restatement (Second) of Torts § 520, cmt. g (compiling groups of cases from various jurisdictions and showing that strict liability for activities such as blasting, storage of inflammable liquids, oil and gas drilling, and

¹⁰"Conduct that in and of itself is not abnormally dangerous does not become so simply because it can be performed negligently in defined circumstances. See Doe v. Johnson, 817 F.Supp. 1832, 1385 (1993), in which the plaintiff argued the defendant was strictly liable for engaging in unprotected sexual activity with her when he had HIV. The Court ruled that strict liability does not apply to sexual activity, and conduct that is not abnormally dangerous does not become so simply because the defendant engaged in that activity negligently. Id. at 1399. Petitioners do not argue that logging itself is an abnormally dangerous activity, but that logging an allegedly "steep unstable slope in a 'rain-on-snow' zone above residential properties" is abnormally dangerous. Petitioners' artificial attempt to narrowly define the activity in question "would, in effect, enable plaintiffs to invoke strict liability for all negligently-conducted activity." Arlington Forest Assoc., 774 F.Supp at 392.

^{...}Performing a dangerous activity in a negligent manner cannot be made safe except by ceasing to behave negligently. Any plaintiff in a negligence action could simply characterize the offending behavior as incapable of being safely performed even with due care, thus bringing it within the scope of strict liability. For example, the activity of "driving a car" can be made sufficiently safe by the exercise of reasonable care. But "driving a car at an excessive rate of speed" cannot be made safe except by ceasing to drive too fast. Clearly this approach would extend the reaches of strict liability far beyond the bounds of the law and of common sense.

water storage is often imposed in thickly settled areas but not rural areas), the Court observed that the "extent of risk of harm from a particular activity cannot be divorced from the location in which the activity occurs," and "it is entirely appropriate to conduct commercial logging operations in a rural area, particularly one that has been logged at least twice during the past century. *Hurley*, 332 P.3d at 475, 477.

Rather, the Court correctly followed this Court's decision in Crosby v. Cox Aircraft Co. of Washington, 109 Wn.2d 581, 746 P.2d 1198 (1987), in which the Court considered the imposition of strict liability on aviation. After all, there is no doubt that the "risk of harm" created by the danger of an aircraft crashing to the ground is great, however, airplane crashes, like the landslides at issue in this case, can be caused by a multitude of factors unrelated to the "activity" at issue:

The causes of aircraft accidents are legion and can come from a myriad of sources. Every aircraft that flies is at risk from every bird, projectile and other aircraft. Accidents may be caused by improper placement of wires or buildings or from failure to properly mark and light such obstructions. The injury to the ground dweller may have been caused by faulty engineering, construction, repair, maintenance, metal fatigue, operation or ground control. Lightning, wind shear and other acts of God may have brought about a crash. Any listing of the causes of such accidents undoubtedly would fall short of the possibilities. In such circumstances the imposition of liability should be upon the blameworthy party who can

Id. at 392-393. Similarly, "logging steep, unstable slopes" can be made safe by adherence to regulations ensuring "unstable" slopes are not logged.

be shown to be at fault.

Crosby, 109 Wn. 2d at 587-88 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals directly applied the analysis in *Crosby* to this case, observing "that many causes may contribute to the risk of landslides. The steepness of the slope, the presence of "rain on snow" zone, the occurrence of an exceptional storm event, the effectiveness of applicable governmental logging regulations, and the extent to which those regulations are adhered to, together or individually, may cause a landslide." *Hurley*, 332 P.3d at 476.

The record shows that the occurrence of landslides is seldom the work of one factor. As the *Crosby* Court noted, under these circumstances the imposition of strict liability is inappropriate and any liability should fall upon the party shown to be at fault. We conclude that this factor weighs against imposing liability without the need for a finding of negligence.

Hurley, 332 at 476. The reason for this conclusion is cast in stark relief by the facts in this case. Petitioners' want the Court to determine that logging "steep, unstable slopes" is an "abnormally dangerous" activity only how steep is "steep?" How unstable is "unstable?" What about the facts of this case, which show the landslide would have occurred regardless of whether the hillside was clearcut because of the overwhelming amount of water eroding the soil from an extraordinary and exceptional storm event? CP 497-503, 964-969.

The problem is, landslides aren't just caused by logging, even

when they happen to occur at an area that was logged. For this reason the Court of Appeals adhered to the Supreme Court's prior statement in *Crosby*, that "[i]n such circumstances the imposition of liability should be upon the blameworthy party who can be shown to be at fault." *Crosby*, 109 Wn.2d at 588.

Petitioners rely on *Klein v. Pyrodyne*, supra, under which the Court subjected public fireworks displays to strict liability, despite the fact that fireworks activities are highly regulated. *Klein* is nothing like the case at bar. *Klein*, 117 Wn.2d at 8. As Petitioners concede, the regulations considered in *Klein* were *intended* to promote public safety and prevent the very injury that occurred. In contrast, logging regulations are designed to protect *public resources* such as water quality and fish habitat. *See* WAC 222-22-010(1) (purpose of the logging industry regulations is to protect public, not private resources). More importantly, there was no doubt in *Klein* that the harm was caused by the singular activity at issue: fireworks. Here there are multiple possible causes of landslides, and no guarantee that the "activity," logging, can be connected to the purported harm at all.

Petitioners' reliance on Langan v. Valicopters, Inc., 88 Wn.2d 855, 567 P.2d 218 (1977), is similarly misplaced. In Langan the Court imposed strict liability on crop dusters who sprayed property adjacent to

an organic farm after the wind carried the chemicals to the organic crop. Langan, 88 Wn.2d at 857. Langan does not fit the facts of this case. Menasha was not using chemicals subject to the whims of the wind and its operations were approved and monitored by the Department of Natural Resources. Moreover, the alleged harm did not occur instantly as it did in Langan, (and Klein), but nearly a decade later after a record-setting storm generated landslides and flooding throughout half the state, many occurring in forest land that had not been logged in over 100 years. CP 498, 500. The Petitioners here were not harmed by Menasha's actual operations, as the organic farmers were harmed by the crop dusters' actual operations in Langan. CP 500, 666. The Martin Road unit was regularly logged for nearly a century, pre-dating the construction of Plaintiffs' residences. Imposing strict liability under Plaintiffs' theory would render economically viable timberland unusable as soon as anyone builds downhill. Nor were Petitioners exposed to risks "inherent" in the logging industry, especially where the ground movement was far below the level to which tree roots grow. Thus, there was no factual support for the "tree roots" theory that forms the basis for Petitioners' "logging is inherently dangerous" argument. CP 502.

In Siegler v. Kuhlman, 81 Wn.2d 448, 502 P.2d 1181 (1972), cert. denied, 411 U.S. 983, 93 S.Ct. 2275, 36 L.Ed.2d 959 (1973), also relied on

by Petitioners, strict liability was imposed on the act of hauling gasoline in commercial quantities as freight upon public highways. Even in that case, however, the Court recognized that where there is the intervention of an "outside force beyond the control of the manufacturer, the owner, or the operator of the vehicle hauling [the gasoline]", the rule of strict liability should not apply. Siegler, at 460. Here there were many, many forces outside the control of Menasha that caused or contributed to the flood and damage at issue, and the Court of Appeals correctly found the imposition of strict liability inappropriate.

B. PETITIONERS' CLAIM DOES NOT INVOLVE SUCH AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT IT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THE SUPREME COURT

Like aviation in *Crosby*, logging, forestry and timber products comprise an integral part of modern society. As the Court of Appeals recognized, "[s]trict liability is appropriate where the 'dangers and inappropriateness for the locality are so great that, despite any usefulness it may have for the community, it should be required as a matter of law to pay for any harm it causes, without the need of a finding of negligence." *Hurley*, 332 P.3d at 477, citing Restatement (Second) Torts § 520, cmt. f

Logging mountainsides above residential property is not uncommon in Lewis County or Washington State. Detailed regulations

governing timber harvests on hillsides confirm that logging such slopes is both anticipated and routine. See WAC 222-10-030. The Court of Appeals' decision is not a "matter of public import" so much as a recognition that so many factors contribute to landslides and the question of the logging industry's contribution is a matter properly handled by the Legislature and the Department of Natural Resources, which have the resources to investigate and study all the issues attendant to logging risks and logging regulation.

In *In re Flood Litig.*, 216 W. Va. 534, 607 S.E.2d 863 (2004), the Court found that various defendant coal companies, timbering companies, railroads, and gas companies could *not* be held strictly liable for damages sustained from flooding allegedly caused by extraction of resources from land. *In re Flood Litig.*, 607 S.E.2d at 873, Appendix 7. After considering the § 520 provisions the Court in *In re Flood Litig.* soundly refused to declare logging an abnormally dangerous activity, and for good reason:

When we apply these factors to the facts before us, we find that Defendants are not strictly liable for their activities or the conditions their activities create. This Court simply does not believe that the day to day activities of Defendants necessarily create a high risk of flash flooding. Also, we are convinced that any increased risk of flooding which results from Defendant's extractive activities can be greatly reduced by the exercise of due care. In addition, extractive activities such as coal mining and timbering are common

activities in southern West Virginia. Finally, we are unable to conclude that the great economic value of some of these extractive activities, such as coal mining, is outweighed by their dangerous attributes. Accordingly, we answer question 4, as reformulated, in the negative.

In re Flood Litig., 607 S.E.2d at 874 (emphasis added).

The same reasoning applies to the logging industry in Washington and explains why other courts have declined to take up the matter. There is no basis to single out *logging* as more hazardous than other industries. Petitioners' request for review should be declined.

VI. REQUEST FOR FEES AND REASONABLE EXPENSES

Menasha respectfully requests the Petition for Review be denied and that the Court issue an order awarding its costs under RAP 14.3.

DATED this ____ day of October, 2014.

Respectfully submitted:

FALLON & McKINLEY

By: R. Scott Fallon, WSBA #2574

Kimberly Reppart, WSBA #30643

Attorneys for Respondent/Defendant

Campbell Menasha LLC